
MOM TR, Inc.
300 Higuera Street

San Luis Obispo, CA 93401

September 5, 2021

Dear Honorable Mayor and City Council,

RE: Item 4 on the Tracy City Council September 7, 2021 Agenda

On behalf of MOM TR, Inc. dba Megan’s Organic Market (MOM Tracy), we submit the following
comments regarding the City’s cannabis business permit application procedures and guidelines,
commercial cannabis activity ordinance, and cannabis business permit issuance process.

MOM Tracy was one of the four companies which received a conditional Cannabis Business
Permit awarded by the Chief of Police in June 2021. MOM Tracy urges the Mayor and City
Council to consider and support staff report Option #3, which would help to improve the
development of a sustainable, robust, and successful City of Tracy cannabis program by
allowing for more local distribution, cultivation, manufacturing, and testing operators - but not
increasing the number of retail operators above four retail operators, at this time.

Option #3 provides for the expansion of the non-retail license types. At the same time, this
approach allows for a prudent and calculated expansion of retail operator opportunities in the
City of Tracy cannabis program after the City’s initially selected retail operators begin operating
for some time and the City can observe and evaluate implementation of its current cannabis
retail program before expanding on it. MOM Tracy’s analysis of the options presented in the staff
report leads to a conclusion that Option #1 and Option #2 have a high probability of
detrimentally affecting the short-term and long-term development of a sustainable, robust, and
successful City of Tracy cannabis program. Accordingly, MOM Tracy respectfully requests the
Mayor and City Council consider adoption of staff report Option #3.

The adoption of staff report Ordinance Changes Option #1 (increasing the number of retail
permits to ten) or Option #2 (increasing the number of retail permits by four annually) would
fundamentally alter the economic viability of MOM Tracy’s proposed project and likely that of
other quality cannabis operators in the City. Cannabis retailers are subject to high compliance
and operational costs as well as a heavy Federal tax burden due to IRS Section 280E, which
limits the ability of cannabis retailers to write off ordinary business expenses. Therefore,
companies who operate at the highest regulatory, customer, employee, and community
standards and who properly pay all Federal, State, and Local taxes, require relatively high
revenue thresholds to maintain operations.

Adopting Options #1 or #2 and increasing the number of retailers in the City of Tracy could
result in licensed operator revenue dropping below the revenue threshold that create conditions

Page 1 of 3

DocuSign Envelope ID: A45236FF-7777-4E2F-BAF3-A6B6C45AF874



for quality and compliant operators to conduct business in a sustainable manner. While it is
clear that the City of Tracy should explore expansion of its retail cannabis program in a manner
that is compatible with its growth plan, mission, and vision, it seems prudent to implement the
current retail cannabis program and revisit the issue of expanding the cannabis retail program
with the benefit of experience and data from operations of the City’s first four cannabis retail
operators. With that experience and data in hand, it seems to follow that this Council will be best
equipped to consider and adopt expansion measures to the cannabis retail program that seek to
meet the community need for access, and maximizes the City’s potential tax revenue receipts -
all within a framework of stewarding the City of Tracy cannabis retail program and its
development in the City of Tracy in a manner compatible with the character, vision, and plan of
the City.

Further, the Community Benefit Proposals submitted by applicants were based on the
assumption that four City cannabis retail operator permits would be issued. Adopting measures
now to increase the number of retail cannabis permits awarded in the immediate term, before
the initially selected retail operators even open, would seem to violate fundamental rules of
fairness. Further, making a premature move to increase the number of cannabis retail permits in
the City may render some of the commitments in the applicants’ Community Benefit Proposals
impossible or unduly onerous to fulfill as a direct result of the number of operators being
increased above the number of permits assumed when developing its projections and
commitments; in the same manner that the City thoughtfully considered its cannabis retail
program, applicants’ thoughtfully considered their projections and commitments. Of course the
City must have flexibility and has the authority to implement its programs to benefit its residents
and further its goals; however, our analysis clearly indicates that the City’s best course of action
for its residents, tax revenue opportunity, and long-term robust participation in the California
cannabis economy is to support Option #3 and revisit expansion of the cannabis retail program
after implementation and observation of the four cannabis retail operators already selected by
the City.

The most appropriate approach would be to adopt Ordinance Changes Option #3. Option #3
provides for the potential of more non-retail operators in the City in the near-term and deferring
the decision to increase the number of retail operators until after the four selected retailers have
been open and operating. At that time, the City will have been able to gather far more
information about the number of retailers that are compatible and viable with the City of Tracy.

MOM Tracy strongly supports the development of a robust local supply chain and advocates
that the Council allow for scoring by cannabis business type, rather than combining and mixing
all reviews. This approach could allow the City the opportunity to approve additional distribution,
cultivation, manufacturing, and testing operations within the City, which in turn would boost tax
revenue, economic benefit, and make it possible for the four storefront retailers awarded permits
to source hyper-local products and support those local distributors, producers, and service
providers. MOM Tracy respectfully requests that the Council focus on finding ways to develop a
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strong local supply chain by expanding the non-retail cannabis operator opportunities in the City
of Tracy rather than making changes to the storefront retail process.

MOM Tracy is honored to be selected as one of the City’s first retail operators and we look
forward to building a lasting relationship with the City of Tracy and its community. The City, its
residents, and its leaders have laid out a clear vision for the City and the City’s cannabis
program. It is understandable that unsuccessful retail applicants would raise all available
arguments; however, the courts and relevant agencies have repeatedly deferred to the
discretion and authority of local jurisdictions, especially in cases such as this where the City of
Tracy has developed, implemented, and maintained a fair, equitable, and legal process. MOM
Tracy encourages the City to focus on bringing to fruition the clear vision laid out for the City's
success. Thank you for allowing MOM Tracy to be a part of your community.

Sincerely,

Mark Cardona
Chief Legal Officer
Megan’s Organic Market
mark@megansorganicmarket.com
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From: Pamela Epstein <pamela@edenenterprises.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, September 7, 2021 2:33 PM 
To: Nancy Young <Nancy.Young@cityoftracy.org>; Veronica Vargas <veronica.vargas@cityoftracy.org>; 
Dan Arriola <Dan.Arriola@cityoftracy.org>; Eleassia Davis <eleassia.davis@cityoftracy.org>; Mateo 
Bedolla <mateo.bedolla@cityoftracy.org> 
Cc: Web - City Manager <CM@cityoftracy.org>; Web - City Clerk <CityClerk@cityoftracy.org> 
Subject: Public Comment for 9/7/21 City Council Meet Item 4 - Cannabis Business Permit Process 
Review 

 
Dear Ms. Richardson, The attached letter is submitted on behalf of GOE-Tracy, LLC, 
C.H.C.C. Inc. (Tracy Cannabis Collective), Bowtie Wellness, Inc., and Jiva TCY LLC 
(collectively, the “Appellants”) in response to the Special Hearing to Review the City’s 
Cannabis Business Permit Application Procedures and Guidelines, Commercial Cannabis 
Activity Ordinance, Cannabis Business Permit Issuance Process, and Provide Direction to 
Staff. 
 
 
Yours Truly, 
 
Pamela Epstein 
 

--  

--  

 

Pamela N. Epstein, Esq., LL.M 

General Counsel and Chief Regulatory and Licensing Officer 
CCIA Vice President Board of Directors 

520.904.1482 

www.EdenEnterprises.com 
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From:  S. Sitnik

































 




